
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

     BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

September 5, 2024 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

OPEN SESSION: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board on matters not on the

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.

CLOSED SESSION: 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure

to litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Gov. Code Section 54956.9 - One potential case.

OPEN SESSION: 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR:

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board.

A. Approve the Board Minutes for August 15, 2024

B. Receive and Ratify the Check Warrant List

C. Approve Murray attending the Webinar Truck Regulation Implementation Group meeting on

 August 29 

D. Approve Award of Contract Smith Ranch Pump Station Improvements 

E. Approve Award of Contract Pump Station Lighting Improvements 

F. Approve Resolution 2024-2336 Confirming the Report on Sewer Service Charges 

G. Approve Resolution 2024-2337 Board Policies F-90, F-100, F-150 and O-10 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Items B through E. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through G. 

4:00 PM 

4:30 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:05 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


September 5, 2024 Page 2 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

4. INFORMATION ITEMS:

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS:

1. General Manager Report – verbal

2. Engineering Department Report – written

3. Operations Department Report – written

4. Board Policy Review of B-50 Training/Conferences/Seminars/Travel/Meals – written

5. REPORT ON POINT BLUE CONSERVATION SCIENCE’S STUDENTS AND TEACHERS
RESTORING A WATERSHED (STRAW) PROGRAM 2023-2024 AND REQUEST FOR DONATION
FOR 2024-2025

Board to receive the report from Point Blue Conservation Science for the Students and Teachers
Restoring a Watershed  (STRAW) 2023-2024 program and review the Request for a Donation for the
STRAW 2024-2025 program.

6. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:

1. CLARK
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee,
CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports

2. MURRAY
a. Marin LAFCo, Flood Zone 6, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,

Development Ad Hoc Committee,  San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

3. NITZBERG
a. Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee
San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

4. ROBARDS
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee,
FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

5. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE,

Marin Special Districts,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

7. BOARD REQUESTS:
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

6:30 PM 

4:40 PM 

6:00 PM 

6:20 PM 

2



September 5, 2024 Page 3 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

8. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

9. ADJOURNMENT

FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: SEPTEMBER 19 AND OCTOBER 3, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before  September 2, 2024  4:00 pm I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held  on  September 5, 2024 at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: August 29, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study sessions. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), if you need special assistance to 
participate in this meeting, please contact the Board Secretary at the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to 
the meeting. Notification prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable disability-related 
modifications or accommodations, including auxiliary aids or services, to help ensure accessibility to this 
meeting. 

6:35 PM 

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

6:40  PM 

3



 

 
 

 

9/5/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

4



 

 
 

 

9/5/2024 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

 Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 2 

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



 

 

 Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: September 5, 2024 

Re: Award of Contract to Mike Brown Electric for Smith Ranch Pump Station 
Improvements 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of contract to Mike Brown Electric Co. for the Smith Ranch Pump 
Station Improvements project in the amount of $890,730. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On August 9, 2024, the District opened bids for the Smith Ranch Pump Station Improvements 
project and Mike Brown Electric (MBE) is the apparent low bidder. The bid results are as follows:  
 

Bidder          Amount 
1. Anvil Builders Inc. (Emeryville)    $1,097,600 
2. Blocka Construction, Inc. (Pleasanton)   $   988,000 
3. Mike Brown Electric Co. (Cotati)    $   890,730 (apparent low bid) 
4. Telstar Instruments (Sacramento)    $1,017,000 

 
The Engineer’s estimate is $1,000,000. Staff evaluated the bids and determined that MBE is a 
responsive and responsible bidder. (MBE is also the apparent low bidder for the Pump Station 
Lighting Improvements project being recommended for the award during this Board meeting.)  
 
The project provides for electrical upgrades at the existing motor control center and replacement 
of the existing natural gas generator with an 80 kW diesel generator. Both the existing motor 
control center and natural gas generator were installed in the 1980s. Freyer & Laureta 
(engineering consultant) prepared the plans and specifications. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The contract amount of $890,730 is less than the current CIP project budget of $1.195M for FY 
2024-25, a portion ($200,000) of which will be reallocated to the Pump Station Lighting 

Item Number_______3D_________ 

GM Review   __CP______________ 

 

24

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

Improvements project to partially cover a budget shortfall. The remaining balance of $104,270 will 
be used to cover construction management and inspection services. 
 

 
Figure 1. Location Map for Smith Ranch Pump Station 

25



 

 

 Page 1 of 3 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: September 5, 2024 

Re: Award of Contract to Mike Brown Electric for Pump Station Lighting 
Improvements Project 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of contract to Mike Brown Electric Co. for the Pump Station Lighting 
Improvements project in the amount of $464,300. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On August 9, 2024, the District opened bids for Pump Station Lighting Improvements project and 
Mike Brown Electric (MBE) is the apparent low bidder. The bid results are as follows: 
 

Bidder          Amount 
1. Ample Electric, Inc. (Winters)    $1,095,830 
2. Anvil Builders Inc. (Emeryville)    $1,288,700 
3. BuildCorp Inc. (San Francisco)    $   573,000 
4. Mike Brown Electric Co. (Cotati)   $   464,300 (apparent low bid) 

 
The Engineer’s estimate is $550,000. Staff evaluated the bids received and determined that MBE 
is a responsive and responsible bidder. (MBE is also the apparent low bidder for the Smith Ranch 
Pump Station Improvements project being recommended for the award during this Board 
meeting.) 
 
The project provides for the site lighting upgrade at the following 11 pump stations identified by 
District staff and confirmed during the Integrated Wastewater Master Plan (IWMP) Business Risk 
& Vulnerability Assessment (BRVA) workshop with Kennedy Jenks in 2020: 

1. Adrian Pump Station 
2. Civic Center North Pump Station 
3. Descanso Pump Station 
4. Hawthorn Pump Station 
5. John Duckett Pump Station 
6. McPhail Pump Station 
7. Mulligan Pump Station 
8. Northgate Industrial Park Pump Station 
9. Rafael Meadows Pump Station 
10. Smith Ranch Pump Station 
11. Venetia Harbor Pump Station 

Item Number_______3E_________ 

GM Review   _______CP_________ 

 

26

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 Page 2 of 3 

 
The work consists of the installation of new exterior lighting fixtures, pull boxes, control panels, 
and conduit and wiring. Lighting fixtures will be Dark Sky Initiative compliant LEDs for outdoor 
lighting that meets the current NFPA Electrical Code. Freyer & Laureta (engineering consultant) 
prepared the plans and specifications. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The contract amount of $464,300 exceeds the current CIP project budget of $206,877 for FY 
2024-25. The shortfall of $257,423 will be covered by the excess budget from Smith Ranch Pump 
Station Improvements ($200,000) and reallocation from the Annual Site Improvements ($60,000). 
 

27



 

 

 Page 3 of 3 

 

 

28



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\09052024\Confirming SSC\ASR Resolution Confirming Sewer Service Charges.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report  

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: September 5, 2024 

Re: Resolution 2024-2336 Confirming the Report on Sewer Service Charges for the 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025. 

Item Type:   Consent X  Action     Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable          X   . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt Resolution 2024-2336 confirming the final assessment 
report of Sewer Service Charges for Fiscal Year 2024-2025. 

BACKGROUND 
As part of the regular process to place the Sewer Service Charges on the Tax Roll the District is 
required to take various formal actions by Resolution. 

A written report containing a description of each parcel of real property receiving services and 
facilities from the District and the amount of service charge for each parcel for the Fiscal Year 
2024-2025 was prepared.  The full written report dated August 6, 2024 is on file at the District 
office. 

On August 7, 2024, the District finalized the Special Assessment process by submitting a 
transmittal to the County of Marin authorizing the County Department of Finance to place the 
Sewer Service Charge assessment on the tax roll for Fiscal Year 2024-2025.  A total of 9,685 
parcels included in the report are to be charged.  The total assessment to be charged is 
$19,311,611.50. 

Adoption of this resolution completes the formal process to place the Sewer Service Charges on 
the property tax roll for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 by notifying the public of action taken. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On June 20, 2024, the Board approved Resolution No. 2024-2331 reconfirming the annual Sewer 
Service Charges and Supplemental Service Charges for fiscal year 2024-2025 and providing for 
the collection of Sewer Service Charges on the Tax Roll. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

Item Number_____3F________ 

GM Review   ____CP__________ 

29

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


Resolution No. 2024-2336  Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2336 
 

A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE FINAL ASSESSMENT 
REPORT OF SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 

FOR THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

 
    RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California that: 

WHEREAS, said Board did on May 8, 2023 adopt its Resolution No. 2023-2304, Fixing 

Time and Place for Public Hearing on Sewer Service Charge Rates for the Fiscal Years 2023-

2024, 2024-2025, 2025-2026, and 2026-2027 and providing for notice thereof where said Board 

did appoint the time and place of hearing protests to said sewer service charge report and 

directed notice; and 

WHEREAS, notice was given of the time therein stated in the manner provided by law 

as appears by the affidavit of publication on file in the office of the Secretary of said District; and 

WHEREAS, said matter came on regularly for hearing at the time fixed where all written 

protests and other written communications were publicly read at said meeting and all persons 

desiring to be heard were fully heard; and 

WHEREAS, this Board did on June 30, 2023, pursuant to Health & Safety Code §5473, 

adopt its Resolution No. 2023-2310, Confirming the Annual Sewer Service Charge and 

Supplemental Service Charges for the Fiscal Years 2023-2024 Through 2026-2027; and 

WHEREAS, this Board did on June 20, 2024, adopt its Resolution No. 2024-2331, 

Reconfirming the Annual Sewer Service Charge and Supplemental Service Charges for Fiscal 

Year 2024-2025 and Providing for the Collection of Sewer Service Charges on the Tax Roll, and 

did direct the preparation and filing of a written report containing a description of each parcel of 

real property receiving services and facilities from the District and the amount of service charge 

for each parcel for the fiscal year 2024-2025; and 

WHEREAS, said written report was prepared and filed with the Treasurer of said District 

on or before August 9, 2024. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED as follows: 

1. That objections to and protests, as required by Health and Safety Code §5473.2, 

against said sewer service charge report were not made by the owners of a majority of the 

30



Resolution No. 2024-2336  Page 2 of 2 

separate parcels or property described in the report against which charges for the services and 

facilities provided by the District were fixed. 

2. That said written report describing each parcel to be charged is hereby adopted in full 

without revision, change, reduction, or modification of any charge specified therein, and that said 

charges shall be collected on the tax roll of the County of Marin in the manner provided by law.  

3. That the Treasurer of this District has filed with the County Auditor of Marin County, 

on or before August 9, 2024, a copy of said report, upon which shall be endorsed over his 

signature a statement that the report had been fully adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. 

4. The County Auditor of Marin County shall, upon receipt of said report, enter the 

amounts of the charges against the respective lots or parcels as they appear on the current 

assessment roll for the fiscal year 2024-2025. 

5. The County Auditor of Marin County shall, in addition to the annual sewer service 

charge, collect the County’s collection fee of $2 per parcel from each of the lots or parcels that 

appear on the current assessment roll for the fiscal year 2024-2025. 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and 

regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on September 5, 2024, by the following vote 

of the members thereof: 

 

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members:  

NOES, Members:   

ABSENT, Members:   

ABSTAIN, Members: 

      ATTEST: 
 
 

      _____________________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 

      Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
APPROVED:     (SEAL) 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Craig Murray, Board President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

31



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\09052024\Policy Revisions\ASR Adopting Update to Board Policies F90 F100 O10 and adding F100-80 and 
F150.docx Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Angela Beran, Grant Management and Procurement Specialist 
 (415) 526-1517   aberan@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 5, 2024 

Re: Revisions and Additions to Board Policies to Reflect New Grant and Procurement 
Procedures and Staffing 

Item Type:   Consent  X  Action        Information       Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approve Resolution 2024-2337 updating Board Policies F-90-40 Purchasing Authority, F-90-60 

Purchase Orders, F-100-10 Board Oversight, F-100-30 Limits on Purchases and Credit Card 

Limits, F-100-40 Review, and O-10-30 List of Purchases, as well as adding new Board Policy 

section F-100-80 District Credit Card Rewards and new Board Policy F-150 Grant Management. 

 
BACKGROUND   
Board Policy Section F-90-40 (Purchasing Authority) identifies staff positions and their purchasing 
authority.  With the Grant Management and Procurement Specialist role recently being filled, staff 
recommends a purchase authority level of $5,000 for the new position.   
 
Board Policy Section F-90-60 (Purchase Orders) currently requires purchase orders for any 
purchases over $3,000.  To reduce the administrative burden, staff recommend increasing the 
threshold from $3,000 to $10,000 to align with Purchasing Authority limits assigned to managers. 
Purchase Order minimum thresholds are set by the agency and are not defined by Government 
Code or recommended by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). As 
management approval is required for all invoices, the requirement for purchase orders on lower 
threshold items duplicates the approval process with no additional benefit to the District.  
 
Board Policy Section F-100-10 (Board Oversight) currently authorizes the Board Vice President 
as the primary account holder for District credit card accounts.  Staff recommends replacing the 
Board Vice President’s authorization with the General Manager, consistent with Board Policy B-80 
which delegates to the General Manager “general authority over personnel matters and authority 
to administer the District,” which is in alignment with current practice. 
 
Board Policy Section F-100-30 (Limits on Purchases and Credit Card Limits) identifies credit card 
limits by staff positions.  With the Grant Management and Procurement Specialist role recently 
being filled, staff recommends a credit card limit of $5,000 for the new position.  Additionally, staff 
recommends revising and increasing the credit card limits of the Administrative/Financial 
Specialist and District Executive Assistant/Board Secretary roles from $5,000 to $7,500.  Further,  
 

Item Number________3G______ 

GM Review   _____CP_________ 

32

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\09052024\Policy Revisions\ASR Adopting Update to Board Policies F90 F100 O10 and adding F100-80 and 
F150.docx Page 2 of 2 

 
 
staff recommend revising and increasing the credit card limit of the Administrative Assistant from 
$2,000 to $5,000. 
 
Board Policy Section F-100-40 (Review) identifies the Administrative/Financial Specialist as being 
responsible for the monthly credit card review process.  With the Grant Management and 
Procurement Specialist role recently being filled, management recommends revising and shifting 
this responsibility to the Grant Management and Procurement Specialist. 
 
Staff recommends adding a new Board Policy Section F-100-80 (District Credit Card Rewards).  
The intent of the new section is to clearly identify any rewards points, benefits, cash back bonus, 
or discounts resulting from the use of District issued Credit Cards shall be utilized solely for the 
benefit of the District, following all applicable laws, and not for individual gain. 
 
Staff recommends adding a new Board Policy F-150 (Grant Management).  The intent of the new 
policy is to establish the District’s authority for pursuing grants, authorizes the General Manager or 
designee to approve all grant application submittals, authorizes the Board to accept grant awards, 
identifies board reporting guidelines and grant application parameters.   
 
Finally, Board Policy Section O-10-30 (List of Purchases) identifies applicable purchases to 
include in capital asset accounting based on the original total cost and useful life.  Staff 
recommends increasing the capital threshold from $5,000 to $15,000. 
 
A redline version showing changes to the above referenced policies is provided for convenience. 
No other sections of Board Policies were revised with the exception of administerial changes.  The 
Resolution and accompanying clean version of the affected policies is being presented after the 
redline version for adoption. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On April 18, 2024, the Board adopted Resolution 2024-2326 revising Board Policy F-90.  
 
On October 6, 2022, the Board adopted Resolution 2022-2283 revising Board Policy F-100.  
 
On January 5, 2023, the Board adopted Resolution 2023-2294 revising Board Policy O-10. 
 
On August 15, 2024, the Board reviewed the draft revisions and additions to Board Policies to 
reflect new grant and procurement procedures and staffing and directed staff to bring back the 
policy revisions and additions to the Board for approval by resolution. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
 

33



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

F-90 PURCHASING, INCLUDING RETAINING CONSULTANTS 
 
Purpose 

This policy establishes procedures for preparing and approving purchase orders; and preparing, 

reviewing, and approving contracts. It also covers legal requirements, petty cash, limits on 

General Manager purchases, the required "paper trail," conformance with received orders, and 

consultant arrangements. 

 
F-90-10 Vendors for Small Items. To purchase small items -- such as office supplies, auto 

parts, and other miscellaneous items costing less than $2,000- the General Manager will set 

policies for selecting vendors. District accounts are awarded to firms at management discretion 

that support local businesses, enable the purchase of green and/or recycled products, as well 

as provide for competitive prices, discounts, service levels, and convenience. 

 
F-90-15  Petty Cash.  A Petty Cash fund shall be maintained in the District office having a 

balance-on-hand maximum of $500.00.  Petty cash may be advanced to District staff upon their 

request for the purpose of procuring item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District 

business. After said item(s) or service(s) have been obtained, a receipt for same shall be 

submitted to the Administrative Assistant or Administrative/Financial Specialist and any remaining 

advanced funds shall be returned.  The maximum petty cash advance shall be $100.00. No 

personal checks shall be cashed in the petty cash fund. The petty cash fund shall be included in 

the District's annual independent accounting audit. 

 
F-90-20 Out-of-Pocket Expenses. Whenever employees of the District incur "out-of-pocket" 

expenses for item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District business as verified by valid 

receipts, said expenses shall be reimbursed upon request from the District's petty cash fund or 

by check if needed.  In instances when a receipt is not obtainable, the requested reimbursement 

shall be approved by the Administrative Services Manager prior to remuneration. 

 
F-90-30  Quotations. To purchase items costing more than $2,000, written quotations will be 

solicited from vendors and received by email, fax, or mail. District Staff may approve purchase 

orders up to the amount of their purchasing authority per F-90-40. For purchases between $5,000 

and $15,000 three quotes will be obtained, unless the item is on the District's approved 

Summary of Specified Equipment List or replacement equipment is from a manufacturer's 

authorized dealer .  In cases where the General Manager determines that certain products may 

provide a better service life, durability, meet a specific need or provide greater efficiency than 

other products he/she has the authority to order that product or engage the service without 

multiple quotes. The General Manager also has the authority to utilize specific maintenance and 

repair vendors as he/she deems appropriate or necessary. 

 
F-90-35 Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA). Public projects, as 

defined by the Act and in accordance with the limits listed in Section 22032 of the Public 

Contract Code, may be let to contract by informal procedures as set forth in Section 22032 , et 

seq. , of the Public Contract Code. Projects less than $60,000 may be performed by staff of the 

Agency, by force account with a contractor, by negotiated contract, or by use of a purchase 

order. (District Code Title 1 Chapter 7). 

 
 

 

Resolution 2024-2326xxx (Pending) Date Approved: April 18, 2024*** DRAFT *** 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: April 18, 2024 

34



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 
F-90-40 Purchasing Authority. The purchasing authority listed below shall apply except as 
authorized by separate Board action for specific construction projects. 

 

Position Authority 

Board of Directors No Limit 

General Manager • Construction and consultant contracts up to $60,000 

• Purchase Orders up to $60,000 

• Budgeted informally bid construction contracts 
between $60,001 and $200,000. (Per UPCCAA) 

Plant Manager Purchases up to $10,000. 

District Engineer Purchases and budgeted informally bid 
construction contracts up to $20,000 

Collection 
System/Maintenance/Safety 
Manager 

Purchases up to $10,000  

Administrative Services Manager Purchases up to $10,000 

District Executive Assistant/Board 
Secretary 

Purchases up to $5,000 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Purchases up to $5,000 

Grant Management and Procurement 
Specialist 

Purchases up to $5,000 

Assistant/Associate  Engineer Purchases up to $5,000 

Environmental Services Supervisor Purchases up to $7,500 

Plant Operations and  
Maintenance Supervisors 

Purchases up to $7,500 

Skilled Maintenance Worker I/II Purchases up to $1,000 

Administrative Assistant Purchases up to $1,000 

 
Formal construction bid contracts in excess of $60,000 must come to the Board for approval 
prior to execution. 

 
For purchases in excess of $15,000, staff will inform the Board of Directors regarding the 
item as soon as administratively feasible. 

 
F-90-50 Expense Authorization in the Absence of the General Manager. In the absence of 
the General Manager, two (2) managers may sign the purchase order for amounts in excess 
of $15 ,000.  The General Manager will approve the purchase order prior to payment. 

 
F-90-60  Purchase Orders. Purchases over $3,000105,000 require a purchase order to be 
issued prior to ordering. 

 
F-90-70 Disbursements.  The District requires that all disbursements be properly approved 
and authorized.  To ensure that internal control is maintained over cash disbursements the 
following procedures will be performed: 

• The General Manager can authorize payment of demands without prior approval by the 
Board if the District Treasurer determines the demands are payable within the District’s 
approved budget. 

 

Resolution 2024-xxx (Pending)2326 Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***April 18, 2024 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved:  April 18, 2024 

35



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

• Disbursements, whether by check or electronic transfer, shall be included on a Warrant 
List and presented to the Board at the next regular meeting for review. Invoices and 
related support documents will be available prior to and at the Board meeting for 
review, providing for additional Board oversight.  

• Demands exceeding the District’s approved budget shall be subject to Board approval 
before payment. 

• Disbursements made by check shall require two signatures for valid, documented and 
approved expenses by the District. Signing authority is to be granted by Resolution. 
Generally, checks drawn from the Operating bank account will be signed by the 
General Manager and Administrative Services Manager, who serves as the District 
Treasurer. Where either the General Manager or Administrative Services Manager is 
not available, a Board member may sign in place of the General Manager or the 
Administrative Services Manager, or two Board members may sign in place of the 
General Manager and the Administrative Services Manager. 

 
F-90-75  Intergovernmental Agreements. Agreements between two or more government 
agencies or non-governmental organizations (NGOs) regardless of purchase amount must be 
approved by the Board. 

 
F-90-80  Contract Execution. Regardless of expenditures and expense authorization levels, 
and unless otherwise authorized by the District Board, the Board (in the form of its President) 
and/or the General Manager shall remain the sole entities authorized to execute formal contracts 
on behalf of the District. Contracts shall include but not be limited to: Agreements with other 
governmental entities or NGOs; professional services agreements; construction, maintenance 
services, equipment procurement, and material supply contracts; and amendments thereof. 

 
F-90-90 Consultants. Consultants will be retained whenever in the judgment of the General 
Manager that there are not sufficient resources or expertise to accomplish a task. 

• Prospective consultants shall be selected from experienced, competent and reliable 
firms or individuals to provide the necessary resource. 

• For consulting expenditures below $60,000, consultants may be selected sole-source on 
the basis of their qualifications and ability. 

• For consulting procurements exceeding $60,000, a competitive process may be followed 
with emphasis on professional capability, availability to complete the task as well as cost. 
Professional Services Contracts over $60,000 shall be submitted to the Board for approval.  
However in the case where the Board deems it more prudent and in the best interest of 
continuity of services, a consultant contract may be awarded without a competitive 
process. 

• Regular reports of consultant's progress shall be reviewed by the General Manager and 
reported to the Board. 

 
F-90-95  Vehicles. Fleet vehicles should be purchased through cooperative purchasing 
agreements or statewide contract.  The Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund will be used to 
fund replacement vehicles and related equipment.  The Board shall authorize the purchase of 
vehicles as part of the budget process or by separate Board action if not budgeted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2024-xxx (Pending)2326 Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***April 18, 2024 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: April 18, 2024 

36



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

F-100 CREDIT CARDS 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes who gets credit cards, the controls over their use, repayment, and 
required documentation for employees for purchases of minor supplies and services on behalf of 
the District; paying for travel when on District business trips; and making small purchases as 
authorized in the Purchasing Policy. 

 
F-100-10  Board Oversight. The Board Vice-PresidentGeneral Manager  is authorized as the 
primary account holder who shall review statements of credit card transactions with supporting 
materials along with the warrant list. This Board member is not to use the credit card for 
purchasing. Per Board decision, on May 8, 2003 Board Members cancelled their credit cards. 

 
F-100-20  Distribution. Credit cards shall be provided to District Staff members as determined 
necessary for the position by the General Manager. The Board is to be notified of the issue of 
new cards in a timely matter. 

 
In order to maintain security over District issued credit cards, staff shall maintain possession of 
their District issued credit cards and not loan them to other staff for use. 

 
F-100-25  Responsibility. The primary responsibility for ensuring the appropriate use of credit 
cards lies with the Named Cardholder. The Named Cardholder is responsible for obtaining 
receipts and providing them to the Administrative/Financial Specialist monthly . 

 
The Department Head is responsible for (1) safeguarding against misuse of credit cards under 
control of their department staff; (2) implementing departmental procedures to ensure that 
purchases are appropriately reviewed, approved, and processed in a timely manner. 

 
F-100-30 Limits on Purchases and Credit Card Limits. Credit card purchases shall be 
limited to: 

 
• Budgeted District expenses and to certain vendor accounts. 
• District business related seminar and conference expenses to include lodging, travel, 

meals, conference registration, and other appropriate expenses. The Administrative 
Services Manager is to be notified if the credit card is to be used outside the District. 
This is done in order to notify the bank for security. 

• Meal expenses, as well as the meal expense of a guest if the breakfast/lunch/dinner 
meeting includes necessary discussion of District business with the guest. Excludes 
alcohol. 

• Spouse or guest expense under very limited circumstances and only when paying for the 
spouse or guest in another manner is difficult or cumbersome. Reimbursement to the 
District, accompanied by an expense receipt, shall be made in a timely manner. 

• Other instances deemed appropriate by the General Manager. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2022-22832024-xxx (Pending) Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***October 6, 2022 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: October 6, 2022 

37



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

Credit Card Limit   

General Manager Up to $20,000 

Plant Manager Up to $10,000 

District Engineer Up to $10,000 

Collection/Maintenance/Safety  Manager Up to $10,000 

Administrative  Services Manager Up to $10,000 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Up to $ 7,500 

District Executive Assistant/Board Secretary Up to $ 7,500$  
5,000 

Administrative/Financial  Specialist Up to $ 5,000 

Grant Management and Procurement Specialist Up to $ 5,000 

Assistant/ Associate  Engineer Up to $ 5,000 

Environmental Services Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

Plant Operations Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

Maintenance Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

District Administrative  Assistant Up to $ 5,000$  
2,000 

Selected Plant, Collections and Maintenance Workers Up to $  1,200 

 
F-100-40  Review. The Grant Management and Procurement Specialist Administrative/Financial  
Specialist is to provide monthly statements to each Named Cardholder, collect receipts from 
each Named Cardholder and reconcile them to credit card transactions on a timely basis.  The 
Administrative Services Manager shall review credit card purchases and determine the adequacy 
of receipts. The General Manager  shall be provided credit card statements, receipts, and 
summary report for final review. 

 
F-100-50  Revocation. A majority vote of the Board is required to revoke the use of a card by 
the General Manager. The General Manager may revoke the use of a credit card by an 
employee. 

 
F-100-60  Prohibitions. Unauthorized use of a credit card or use of a credit card for personal 
purchases is strictly prohibited. The unauthorized use shall be reimbursed to the District by the 
employee before continuation of the use of the credit card will be allowed. 

 
F-100-70  Use of Personal Credit Cards for District Business. Employees who are issued 
District credit cards are required to use them for District business unless administratively 
unfeasible. 

 
Employees who do not have District issued credit cards may use personal cards to pay for travel 
expenses, emergency purchases and incidental items related to District business up to 
$2,500 per event. 

 
Use of personal credit cards for District purchases other than outlined above requires prior 
approval by the General Manager or will not be paid by the District. 
 
F-100-80  D i s t r i c t  Credit Card Rewards. Any reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or 
discounts resulting from use of District issued credit card, if applicable, shall be utilized solely for the 
benefit of the District. Use of any such reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or discounts shall 
follow all applicable laws. No reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or discounts shall be utilized 
for individual gain. 

 

Resolution No. 2022-22832024-2024-xxx 
(Pending) 

Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***October 6, 
2022 President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: October 6, 
2022 38



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

F-150 GRANT MANAGEMENT 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes authority for the District for the application, acceptance, and reporting of 
grants. This policy shall be approved by Board resolution and applies to all grants for which the 
District may apply. 
 
A grant is an external funding source that is awarded for a specific purpose, is valid within a defined 
timeframe, and typically imposes contractual obligations on the District.  The method of grant 
disbursement is determined by the granting agency and the use of the funds is generally subject to 
audit by the granting agency. 
 
It is the objective of the District to affirmatively seek grant funding opportunities that add to the 
District’s financial resources to help maintain and provide quality service and capital improvements 
for residents and businesses in the service area. 
 
F-150-10 General Manager Authorization.  All grant application submittals must be approved by 
the General Manager or designee. 
 
Based on the following circumstances, Board delegates to the General Manager the ability to 
approve grant application submittals if: 
 

• The Board has a policy, goal, or plan in place supporting the program the grant funds would 
be used if awarded. 

• The grant or application does not require any substantial staff time, other than that of the 
Grant Management and Procurement Specialist, and which will not be funded by the grant or 
program. 

• The grant or application does not require any additional District funds not already budgeted 
for this purpose and which falls under the purchasing authority of the General Manager. 

 
Board approval must be obtained to apply for a grant that does not meet the conditions set forth 
above or if the granting agency requires governing body approval before applying for a grant. 
 
When considering the submittal of a grant application, the General Manager will consider the grant 
application parameters referenced at the end of this policy. In addition, the General Manager is 
authorized to accept or reject all grant awards that do not fall under Board authorization described in 
the following section. 
 
F-150-20 Board Authorization.  Board approval for acceptance of grant awards is required when 
any of the following apply: 

• Funding for the project is not already approved in the amended operating or capital budgets. 
• Funds will be used to purchase or lease real property. 
• The District acts as a fiscal agent for another agency. 
• Appropriation of additional funds to serve as matching funds is required. 
• The granting agency requires governing body approval. 

 
F-150-30 Board Reporting Guidelines.  The Administrative Services Manager or designee will 
report to Board as follows: 

 
• As part of the Quarterly Financial Reports, staff will include the following for all active grants 

and grants closed-out during the fiscal year: 
• Purpose of the grant 
• Granting agency 
• Grant amount awarded 
• Grant amount spent 
• Grant amount remaining 
• Grant term/period of performance 

 39



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

F-150-40 Grant Application Parameters.   
1. The minimum dollar amount of the solicitation of grant funds from both Federal/State 

government agencies and private agencies should generally be the following: 
a. Federal $1,000,000 
b. State $500,000 
c. Private and Other Local Public Agencies $5,000 

When grant opportunities arise that have funding available below the minimum thresholds 
identified above, the General Manager or designee are authorized to determine if it is still 
in the best interest of the District and their resources to move forward with preparing and 
submitting a grant application. 

2. Amounts under this minimum should be considered only if there are minimal administrative 
tasks (i.e., financial/project reporting, maintaining receipts, vouchers, etc.) imposed on the 
District by the grantor. 

3. Program and projects proposed for grant funding should be those that are consistent with 
the District’s Mission, Vision and Strategic Goals as identified as part of the District’s 
Strategic Plan, Integrated Wastewater Master Plan, or similar planning documents. 

4. Grant programs must comply with rules established by the granting agency.  If the 
requirements by the granting agency conflict with District policies, the granting agency 
requirements prevail.  No grant may be accepted if grant program requirements conflict 
with state or federal law or with any District ordinance. 

5. The submission of a grant application does not commit the District to appropriating match 
funds or funds for ongoing costs not covered by the grant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-XXXX Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***MONTH XX, 
2024 

President of the Board Last Reviewed: MONTH XX, 2024NEW 

 

40



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

OPERATIONS 

O-10 CAPITAL ASSET ACCOUNTING CONTROLS 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes procedures for accounting controls, inventory of facilities and equipment, 
assignment of value, depreciation, and maintenance procedures. 

 
O-10-10  Accurate Financial Reports. The purpose of this policy is to ensure proper accounting 
control resulting in the maintaining of accurate financial reports of capital assets. 

 
O-10-20  Report to Board. An accounting of all capital assets shall be conducted on an 
annual basis. 

 
O-10-30  List of Purchases. Applicable purchases for inclusion in said accounting shall be 
the following: 

• Equipment, tools, and vehicles that individually have an original total cost basis of 
more than $15,000 and a useful life greater than one year 

• All land and building acquisitions regardless of price; and, 
• Additions or major improvements to the District's service infrastructure. 

 
O-10-40  Recordkeeping. Permanent inventory records shall be maintained in either a paper file or 
electronic (computer data base) format. Said records shall be updated whenever a change in the 
status of a particular capital asset occurs (e.g., original purchase, sale, destruction, loss, theft, etc.). 

 
O-10-50  Inventory Requirements. Information to be maintained in said inventory records 
shall include at least the following: 

• Asset number 
• Description 
• Manufacturer's serial number 
• Storage location 
• Original cost 
• Acquisition date 
• Life expectancy 
• Classification code (e.g., office equipment, vehicle, etc.) 

 
O-10-60 Administrative Policies and Procedures. The General Manager and Administrative 
Services Manager shall develop internal capital asset policies and procedures necessary for 
establishing and maintaining internal controls to achieve the objectives of effective and efficient 
operations, reliable financial reporting, and compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-2024-xxx2023-2294 Date Approved: *** DRAFT ***January 5, 2023 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: December 15, 
2022 

 

41



Resolution No. 2024-2337  Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2337 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING REVISIONS TO BOARD POLICIES F-90 PURCHASING, F-100 
CREDIT CARDS, O-10 CAPITAL ASSET ACCOUNTING CONTROLS, AND ADDING AND NEW 

BOARD POLICY F-150 GRANT MANAGEMENT  
 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (“Board”) has determined that a comprehensive list of 
Policies and Procedures for the Board is in the best interest of the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board has compiled a comprehensive list of Policies and Procedures to 
serve as the rules and regulations of the Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board did adopt such comprehensive list of Policies and Procedures on 
July 9, 2009; and  
 

WHEREAS, such policies may need to be updated from time to time; and 
 
WHEREAS, Government Code Section 54202 of Title 5, Division 2, Chapter 5, Article 7  

requires every local agency to adopt policies and procedures governing purchases of supplies and 
equipment by the local agency; and  

 
WHEREAS, Government Code Section 54204 of Title 5, Division 2, Chapter 5, Article 7  

requires the policies provided for in Section 54202 to be adopted by means of a written rule or 
regulation; and 

 
WHEREAS, on August 15, 2024 the Board reviewed suggested policy revisions to F-90, 

F-100, and O-10, and supported the creation of new policy F-150 Grant Management; and 
 
WHEREAS, adoption of the revised and added policies will accurately reflect current 

operations at the District and provide guidelines for grant funding. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
approves the following revised policies: F-90 Purchasing, incorporating revisions to F-90-40 
Purchasing Authority and F-90-60 Purchase Orders; F-100 Credit Cards, incorporating revisions to 
F-100-10 Board Oversight, F-100-30 Limits on Purchase and Credit Card Limits, F-100-40 Review; 
and O-10 Capital Asset Accounting Controls, incorporating revisions to O-10-30 List of Purchases. 
The previously approved Board Policies F-90, F-100, and O-10 are hereby revoked and declared 
null and void. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District approves adopting and adding Board Policy Section F-100-80 District Credit Card 
Rewards and Board Policy F-150 Grant Management to the comprehensive list of Policies and 
Procedures. 
 
If any policy or portion of a policy contained within the Policies and Procedures is in conflict with 
rules, regulations, or legislation having authority over the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, said 
rules, regulations or legislation shall prevail. 
 
The Policies and Procedures shall remain in effect until amended by at least a majority vote of the 
Board of Directors. 
 

42



Resolution No. 2024-2337  Page 2 of 2 

 
 *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 
passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
 District, Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on the 5th day of September, 2024 by 
the following vote of the members thereof: 
 
AYES, and in favor thereof Members:  
NOES, Members:   
ABSENT, Members:  
ABSTAIN, Members:   
     
 

          
    ________________________________ 

      Teresa Lerch, District Secretary  
        
 
APPROVED:             (seal) 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Craig K. Murray, President of Board of Directors 

43



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

F-90 PURCHASING, INCLUDING RETAINING CONSULTANTS 
 
Purpose 

This policy establishes procedures for preparing and approving purchase orders; and preparing, 

reviewing, and approving contracts. It also covers legal requirements, petty cash, limits on 

General Manager purchases, the required "paper trail," conformance with received orders, and 

consultant arrangements. 

 
F-90-10 Vendors for Small Items. To purchase small items -- such as office supplies, auto 

parts, and other miscellaneous items costing less than $2,000- the General Manager will set 

policies for selecting vendors. District accounts are awarded to firms at management discretion 

that support local businesses, enable the purchase of green and/or recycled products, as well 

as provide for competitive prices, discounts, service levels, and convenience. 

 
F-90-15  Petty Cash.  A Petty Cash fund shall be maintained in the District office having a 

balance-on-hand maximum of $500.00.  Petty cash may be advanced to District staff upon their 

request for the purpose of procuring item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District 

business. After said item(s) or service(s) have been obtained, a receipt for same shall be 

submitted to the Administrative Assistant or Administrative/Financial Specialist and any remaining 

advanced funds shall be returned.  The maximum petty cash advance shall be $100.00. No 

personal checks shall be cashed in the petty cash fund. The petty cash fund shall be included in 

the District's annual independent accounting audit. 

 
F-90-20 Out-of-Pocket Expenses. Whenever employees of the District incur "out-of-pocket" 

expenses for item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District business as verified by valid 

receipts, said expenses shall be reimbursed upon request from the District's petty cash fund or 

by check if needed.  In instances when a receipt is not obtainable, the requested reimbursement 

shall be approved by the Administrative Services Manager prior to remuneration. 

 
F-90-30  Quotations. To purchase items costing more than $2,000, written quotations will be 

solicited from vendors and received by email, fax, or mail. District Staff may approve purchase 

orders up to the amount of their purchasing authority per F-90-40. For purchases between $5,000 

and $15,000 three quotes will be obtained, unless the item is on the District's approved 

Summary of Specified Equipment List or replacement equipment is from a manufacturer's 

authorized dealer .  In cases where the General Manager determines that certain products may 

provide a better service life, durability, meet a specific need or provide greater efficiency than 

other products he/she has the authority to order that product or engage the service without 

multiple quotes. The General Manager also has the authority to utilize specific maintenance and 

repair vendors as he/she deems appropriate or necessary. 

 
F-90-35 Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA). Public projects, as 

defined by the Act and in accordance with the limits listed in Section 22032 of the Public 

Contract Code, may be let to contract by informal procedures as set forth in Section 22032 , et 

seq. , of the Public Contract Code. Projects less than $60,000 may be performed by staff of the 

Agency, by force account with a contractor, by negotiated contract, or by use of a purchase 

order. (District Code Title 1 Chapter 7). 

 
 

 

Resolution 2024-2337 Date Approved: ___________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: April 18, 2024 

44



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 
F-90-40 Purchasing Authority. The purchasing authority listed below shall apply except as 
authorized by separate Board action for specific construction projects. 

 

Position Authority 

Board of Directors No Limit 

General Manager • Construction and consultant contracts up to $60,000 

• Purchase Orders up to $60,000 

• Budgeted informally bid construction contracts 
between $60,001 and $200,000. (Per UPCCAA) 

Plant Manager Purchases up to $10,000. 

District Engineer Purchases and budgeted informally bid 
construction contracts up to $20,000 

Collection 
System/Maintenance/Safety 
Manager 

Purchases up to $10,000  

Administrative Services Manager Purchases up to $10,000 

District Executive Assistant/Board 
Secretary 

Purchases up to $5,000 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Purchases up to $5,000 

Grant Management and Procurement 
Specialist 

Purchases up to $5,000 

Assistant/Associate Engineer Purchases up to $5,000 

Environmental Services Supervisor Purchases up to $7,500 

Plant Operations and 
Maintenance Supervisors 

Purchases up to $7,500 

Skilled Maintenance Worker I/II Purchases up to $1,000 

Administrative Assistant Purchases up to $1,000 

 
Formal construction bid contracts in excess of $60,000 must come to the Board for approval 
prior to execution. 

 
For purchases in excess of $15,000, staff will inform the Board of Directors regarding the 
item as soon as administratively feasible. 

 
F-90-50 Expense Authorization in the Absence of the General Manager. In the absence of 
the General Manager, two (2) managers may sign the purchase order for amounts in excess 
of $15 ,000.  The General Manager will approve the purchase order prior to payment. 

 
F-90-60  Purchase Orders. Purchases over $10,000 require a purchase order to be issued 
prior to ordering. 

 
F-90-70 Disbursements.  The District requires that all disbursements be properly approved 
and authorized.  To ensure that internal control is maintained over cash disbursements the 
following procedures will be performed: 

• The General Manager can authorize payment of demands without prior approval by the 
Board if the District Treasurer determines the demands are payable within the District’s 
approved budget. 

 

Resolution 2024-2337 Date Approved: _________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved:  April 18, 2024 

45



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

• Disbursements, whether by check or electronic transfer, shall be included on a Warrant 
List and presented to the Board at the next regular meeting for review. Invoices and 
related support documents will be available prior to and at the Board meeting for 
review, providing for additional Board oversight.  

• Demands exceeding the District’s approved budget shall be subject to Board approval 
before payment. 

• Disbursements made by check shall require two signatures for valid, documented and 
approved expenses by the District. Signing authority is to be granted by Resolution. 
Generally, checks drawn from the Operating bank account will be signed by the 
General Manager and Administrative Services Manager, who serves as the District 
Treasurer. Where either the General Manager or Administrative Services Manager is 
not available, a Board member may sign in place of the General Manager or the 
Administrative Services Manager, or two Board members may sign in place of the 
General Manager and the Administrative Services Manager. 

 
F-90-75  Intergovernmental Agreements. Agreements between two or more government 
agencies or non-governmental organizations (NGOs) regardless of purchase amount must be 
approved by the Board. 

 
F-90-80  Contract Execution. Regardless of expenditures and expense authorization levels, 
and unless otherwise authorized by the District Board, the Board (in the form of its President) 
and/or the General Manager shall remain the sole entities authorized to execute formal contracts 
on behalf of the District. Contracts shall include but not be limited to: Agreements with other 
governmental entities or NGOs; professional services agreements; construction, maintenance 
services, equipment procurement, and material supply contracts; and amendments thereof. 

 
F-90-90 Consultants. Consultants will be retained whenever in the judgment of the General 
Manager that there are not sufficient resources or expertise to accomplish a task. 

• Prospective consultants shall be selected from experienced, competent and reliable 
firms or individuals to provide the necessary resource. 

• For consulting expenditures below $60,000, consultants may be selected sole-source on 
the basis of their qualifications and ability. 

• For consulting procurements exceeding $60,000, a competitive process may be followed 
with emphasis on professional capability, availability to complete the task as well as cost. 
Professional Services Contracts over $60,000 shall be submitted to the Board for approval.  
However in the case where the Board deems it more prudent and in the best interest of 
continuity of services, a consultant contract may be awarded without a competitive 
process. 

• Regular reports of consultant's progress shall be reviewed by the General Manager and 
reported to the Board. 

 
F-90-95  Vehicles. Fleet vehicles should be purchased through cooperative purchasing 
agreements or statewide contract.  The Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund will be used to 
fund replacement vehicles and related equipment.  The Board shall authorize the purchase of 
vehicles as part of the budget process or by separate Board action if not budgeted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2024-2337 Date Approved: _________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: April 18, 2024 

46



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

F-100 CREDIT CARDS 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes who gets credit cards, the controls over their use, repayment, and 
required documentation for employees for purchases of minor supplies and services on behalf of 
the District; paying for travel when on District business trips; and making small purchases as 
authorized in the Purchasing Policy. 

 
F-100-10  Board Oversight. The General Manager is authorized as the primary account holder 
who shall review statements of credit card transactions with supporting materials along with the 
warrant list. Per Board decision, on May 8, 2003 Board Members cancelled their credit cards. 

 
F-100-20  Distribution. Credit cards shall be provided to District Staff members as determined 
necessary for the position by the General Manager. The Board is to be notified of the issue of 
new cards in a timely matter. 

 
In order to maintain security over District issued credit cards, staff shall maintain possession of 
their District issued credit cards and not loan them to other staff for use. 

 
F-100-25  Responsibility. The primary responsibility for ensuring the appropriate use of credit 
cards lies with the Named Cardholder. The Named Cardholder is responsible for obtaining 
receipts and providing them to the Administrative/Financial Specialist monthly . 

 
The Department Head is responsible for (1) safeguarding against misuse of credit cards under 
control of their department staff; (2) implementing departmental procedures to ensure that 
purchases are appropriately reviewed, approved, and processed in a timely manner. 

 
F-100-30 Limits on Purchases and Credit Card Limits. Credit card purchases shall be 
limited to: 

 
• Budgeted District expenses and to certain vendor accounts. 
• District business related seminar and conference expenses to include lodging, travel, 

meals, conference registration, and other appropriate expenses. The Administrative 
Services Manager is to be notified if the credit card is to be used outside the District. 
This is done in order to notify the bank for security. 

• Meal expenses, as well as the meal expense of a guest if the breakfast/lunch/dinner 
meeting includes necessary discussion of District business with the guest. Excludes 
alcohol. 

• Spouse or guest expense under very limited circumstances and only when paying for the 
spouse or guest in another manner is difficult or cumbersome. Reimbursement to the 
District, accompanied by an expense receipt, shall be made in a timely manner. 

• Other instances deemed appropriate by the General Manager. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-2337 Date Approved: _________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: October 6, 2022 

47



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

Credit Card Limit   

General Manager Up to $20,000 

Plant Manager Up to $10,000 

District Engineer Up to $10,000 

Collection/Maintenance/Safety Manager Up to $10,000 

Administrative Services Manager Up to $10,000 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Up to $ 7,500 

District Executive Assistant/Board Secretary Up to $ 7,500 

Grant Management and Procurement Specialist Up to $ 5,000 

Assistant/Associate Engineer Up to $ 5,000 

Environmental Services Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

Plant Operations Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

Maintenance Supervisor Up to $ 5,000 

Administrative Assistant Up to $ 5,000 

Selected Plant, Collections and Maintenance Workers Up to $ 1,200 

 
F-100-40  Review. The Grant Management and Procurement Specialist is to provide monthly 
statements to each Named Cardholder, collect receipts from each Named Cardholder and 
reconcile them to credit card transactions on a timely basis.  The Administrative Services 
Manager shall review credit card purchases and determine the adequacy of receipts. The 
General Manager shall be provided credit card statements, receipts, and summary report for 
final review. 

 
F-100-50  Revocation. A majority vote of the Board is required to revoke the use of a card by 
the General Manager. The General Manager may revoke the use of a credit card by an 
employee. 

 
F-100-60  Prohibitions. Unauthorized use of a credit card or use of a credit card for personal 
purchases is strictly prohibited. The unauthorized use shall be reimbursed to the District by the 
employee before continuation of the use of the credit card will be allowed. 

 
F-100-70  Use of Personal Credit Cards for District Business. Employees who are issued 
District credit cards are required to use them for District business unless administratively 
unfeasible. 

 
Employees who do not have District issued credit cards may use personal cards to pay for travel 
expenses, emergency purchases and incidental items related to District business up to 
$2,500 per event. 

 
Use of personal credit cards for District purchases other than outlined above requires prior 
approval by the General Manager or will not be paid by the District. 
 
F-100-80  D i s t r i c t  Credit Card Rewards. Any reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or 
discounts resulting from use of District issued credit card, if applicable, shall be utilized solely for the 
benefit of the District. Use of any such reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or discounts shall 
follow all applicable laws. No reward points, benefits, cash back bonus or discounts shall be utilized 
for individual gain. 

 

Resolution No. 2024-2337 Date Approved: ________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: October 6, 
2022 

48



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    
 

F-150 GRANT MANAGEMENT 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes authority for the District for the application, acceptance, and reporting of 
grants. This policy shall be approved by Board resolution and applies to all grants for which the 
District may apply. 
 
A grant is an external funding source that is awarded for a specific purpose, is valid within a defined 
timeframe, and typically imposes contractual obligations on the District.  The method of grant 
disbursement is determined by the granting agency and the use of the funds is generally subject to 
audit by the granting agency. 
 
It is the objective of the District to affirmatively seek grant funding opportunities that add to the 
District’s financial resources to help maintain and provide quality service and capital improvements 
for residents and businesses in the service area. 
 
F-150-10 General Manager Authorization.  All grant application submittals must be approved by 
the General Manager or designee. 
 
Based on the following circumstances, Board delegates to the General Manager the ability to 
approve grant application submittals if: 
 

• The Board has a policy, goal, or plan in place supporting the program the grant funds would 
be used if awarded. 

• The grant or application does not require any substantial staff time, other than that of the 
Grant Management and Procurement Specialist, and which will not be funded by the grant or 
program. 

• The grant or application does not require any additional District funds not already budgeted 
for this purpose and which falls under the purchasing authority of the General Manager. 

 
Board approval must be obtained to apply for a grant that does not meet the conditions set forth 
above or if the granting agency requires governing body approval before applying for a grant. 
 
When considering the submittal of a grant application, the General Manager will consider the grant 
application parameters referenced at the end of this policy. In addition, the General Manager is 
authorized to accept or reject all grant awards that do not fall under Board authorization described in 
the following section. 
 
F-150-20 Board Authorization.  Board approval for acceptance of grant awards is required when 
any of the following apply: 

• Funding for the project is not already approved in the amended operating or capital budgets. 
• Funds will be used to purchase or lease real property. 
• The District acts as a fiscal agent for another agency. 
• Appropriation of additional funds to serve as matching funds is required. 
• The granting agency requires governing body approval. 

 
F-150-30 Board Reporting Guidelines.  The Administrative Services Manager or designee will 
report to Board as follows: 

 
• As part of the Quarterly Financial Reports, staff will include the following for all active grants 

and grants closed-out during the fiscal year: 
• Purpose of the grant 
• Granting agency 
• Grant amount awarded 
• Grant amount spent 
• Grant amount remaining 
• Grant term/period of performance 

 49



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

F-150-40 Grant Application Parameters.   
1. The minimum dollar amount of the solicitation of grant funds from both Federal/State 

government agencies and private agencies should generally be the following: 
a. Federal $1,000,000 
b. State $500,000 
c. Private and Other Local Public Agencies $5,000 

When grant opportunities arise that have funding available below the minimum thresholds 
identified above, the General Manager or designee are authorized to determine if it is still 
in the best interest of the District and their resources to move forward with preparing and 
submitting a grant application. 

2. Amounts under this minimum should be considered only if there are minimal administrative 
tasks (i.e., financial/project reporting, maintaining receipts, vouchers, etc.) imposed on the 
District by the grantor. 

3. Program and projects proposed for grant funding should be those that are consistent with 
the District’s Mission, Vision and Strategic Goals as identified as part of the District’s 
Strategic Plan, Integrated Wastewater Master Plan, or similar planning documents. 

4. Grant programs must comply with rules established by the granting agency.  If the 
requirements by the granting agency conflict with District policies, the granting agency 
requirements prevail.  No grant may be accepted if grant program requirements conflict 
with state or federal law or with any District ordinance. 

5. The submission of a grant application does not commit the District to appropriating match 
funds or funds for ongoing costs not covered by the grant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-2337 Date Approved: ________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed: NEW 

 

50



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
    

OPERATIONS 

O-10 CAPITAL ASSET ACCOUNTING CONTROLS 
 

Purpose 
This policy establishes procedures for accounting controls, inventory of facilities and equipment, 
assignment of value, depreciation, and maintenance procedures. 

 
O-10-10  Accurate Financial Reports. The purpose of this policy is to ensure proper accounting 
control resulting in the maintaining of accurate financial reports of capital assets. 

 
O-10-20  Report to Board. An accounting of all capital assets shall be conducted on an 
annual basis. 

 
O-10-30  List of Purchases. Applicable purchases for inclusion in said accounting shall be 
the following: 

• Equipment, tools, and vehicles that individually have an original total cost basis of 
more than $15,000 and a useful life greater than one year 

• All land and building acquisitions regardless of price; and, 
• Additions or major improvements to the District's service infrastructure. 

 
O-10-40  Recordkeeping. Permanent inventory records shall be maintained in either a paper file or 
electronic (computer data base) format. Said records shall be updated whenever a change in the 
status of a particular capital asset occurs (e.g., original purchase, sale, destruction, loss, theft, etc.). 

 
O-10-50  Inventory Requirements. Information to be maintained in said inventory records 
shall include at least the following: 

• Asset number 
• Description 
• Manufacturer's serial number 
• Storage location 
• Original cost 
• Acquisition date 
• Life expectancy 
• Classification code (e.g., office equipment, vehicle, etc.) 

 
O-10-60 Administrative Policies and Procedures. The General Manager and Administrative 
Services Manager shall develop internal capital asset policies and procedures necessary for 
establishing and maintaining internal controls to achieve the objectives of effective and efficient 
operations, reliable financial reporting, and compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-2337 Date Approved: _________________ 

President of the Board Last Reviewed and Approved: December 15, 
2022 

 

51



 

 
 

 

9/5/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4.1 

52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\09052024\ASR Board Policy Review B-50.docx Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 5, 2024 

Re: Board Policy Review of B-50 Training/Conferences/Seminars/Travel/Meals  

Item Type:   Consent    Action        Information     X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No     (See attached) Not Applicable     X        . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Review and provide guidance to staff on proposed changes to Board Policy B-50. 

BACKGROUND  
An inquiry was made during the August 15, 2024 Board meeting asking if Board members could 
receive a per diem for meals while traveling on District business rather than having to provide 
itemized receipts for meals. Board Policy B-50 establishes the rules for attendance at training, 
conferences, seminars and other travel which includes requirements for reimbursement of meals 
and incidental expenses. 
 
The District has historically used the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) per diem rates 
as guidance for Meal & Incidental Expense (M&IE) reimbursement for the Board and staff. The 
proposed changes remove the requirement for the Board to submit receipts related to M&IE, 
which is in alignment with staff travel policy. 
 
Using GSA per diem rates for M&IE rather than submitting individual receipts offers several 
benefits. The per diem system simplifies the reimbursement process by eliminating the need to 
collect, manage, and audit receipts, reducing administrative overhead and potential calculation 
errors. It ensures consistency and fairness, as all Board members receive the same rate based 
on the location, avoiding discrepancies in reimbursement amounts due to varying meal costs. 
Additionally, with the increasing use of online payments for meals, the need for physical receipts 
is reduced, contributing to less paper waste, and promoting environmentally friendly practices.  
 
A redline version with suggested changes is being provided for Board consideration. The revised 
policy will be brought back to the Board at its next regular meeting for adoption.   
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
Policy B-50 was last updated on May 19, 2022 by Resolution No. 2022-2255 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A  

Item Number______4.4________ 

GM Review   _____CP_________ 

 

61

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
 

 
B-50 TRAINING/CONFERENCES/SEMINARS/TRAVEL/MEALS 

 

Purpose 
This policy establishes the rules for attendance at training , conferences, seminars and other 
travel. 

 
Since trips and travel expenses for training , conferences and seminars are being paid for with 
public funds, it shall be the responsibility of the official undertaking the trip to make every effort 
to attend the entire conference and/or as many sessions as possible to attain maximum benefit. 
Board members will limit expenses being borne by the District to be within the allowed limits. 

 
B-50-10  Attendance Encouraged, but Limit on Number of Conferences. Board Members 
are encouraged to attend educational training, conferences and seminars, and serve as 
representatives of the District at professional meetings that clearly benefit the District and are 
directly related to improving the operation of the District. Board Members are limited to four (4) 
conferences or seminars per calendar year for which the District will pay expenses per the 
approved usual and reasonable travel related reimbursement chart below. The Board may vote 
to allow a Member to exceed this limitation of four (4) conferences or seminars prior to that 
Member's attendance at that event. For multi-day conferences, compensation shall be at a 
maximum of one meeting per day.  If travel to a conference requires travel of four hours or 
more, portal to portal, the Board member may charge for that day. 

 
One day conferences or virtual conferences without overnight travel will not be considered in the 
annual attendance limit and will be reimbursed as a special meeting. Any conference or seminar 
that a Board Member attends of two days or longer shall be included in the four (4) conference 
or seminar limit. Board Members are required to submit a Meeting Attendance Request or a 
Conference Registration Form in advance of the requested travel. In order to receive approval 
for reimbursement, the requests should be submitted at least five business days prior to the 
Board Meetings. 

 
B-50-20  Usual and Reasonable Costs. The Board will comply with Government Code 
§53232.2. The District will pay all usual and reasonable costs associated with attendance at 
approved training , conferences, seminars, and other travel, including, but not limited to, 
registration, lodging, mileage, meals, ground transportation,  parking and travel. Actual and 
necessary expenses incurred in the performance of official duties shall be reimbursable. 
Itemized receipts are required to be submitted for reimbursement. In lieu of submitting actual 
itemized receipts for Meals and Incidental Expenses (M&IE), the District will allow Board members 
to receive per diem reimbursement for M&IE    Usual meal related expenses shall be limited in 
total amount per day to the current District per diem amounts, which are pursuant to the 
prevailing U.S. General Services Administration's  (GSA) current breakdown of meal 
reimbursement expensesper diem rates per according to Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
guidance. GSA per diem rates are set on October 1 of every year and vary based on where the 
expenses are incurred while on official travel. Directors can use the latest per diem rates found on 
the GSA website at https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates. Attachment  1 contains 
the current California GSA per diem meal and incidentals reimbursement rates 

 
Hotel receipts are not adequate for documentation for food expenses . The expenses shall be 
presented to the Board for approval through the normal administrative process. 

 
 

 62

https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates


Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
 

Resolution No. 20222024-2255xxxx (pending) Date Approved: May 19, 2022____________ 
President of the Board Last Revised: May 19, 2022 

63



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
 

 
Transportation (ie - by passenger vehicle, scheduled shuttle or taxi) reimbursement for travel to 
San Francisco Airport or Oakland Airport will not exceed a maximum of $46.00 one way . Cash 
t ips unsubstantiated by receipts (i.e. - bellman, hotel maid) shall be reimbursed as incidental 
expenses subject to the prevailing US General Services Administration's current breakdown of 
incidental expenses . 

 
Transportation expenses to and at an offsite event that is scheduled as part of a conference or 
meeting shall be reimbursable.  Itemized receipts are required to be submitted for 
reimbursement.  Tips for transportation such as cabs and shuttles that are included in the 
receipt from the driver shall be reimbursable and not included in the incidental expense portion 
of the daily expense limit specified by the US General Services Administration. 

 
 

B-50-30  Expenses for Non-Conference Related Meetings.  A Board member may attend a 
meeting that is not part of a conference where District business is discussed. Reasonable 
expenses for transportation and meals shall be reimbursed, subject to the substantiation 
requirements and meal and incidental expense allowances described above, after receiving 
approval from the Board. 

 
 

B-50-40  Report to Board. A Board member who attends a conference/seminar/meeting  etc. 
for which the District has paid expenses shall make an oral or written report to the Board, 
detailing what was learned that benefits the District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2024-xxxx (pending)2022-
 

Date Approved: May 19, 2022____________ 
President of the Board Last Revised: May 19, 2022 

64



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Policies and Procedures Manual 
 

 
 

 

B-50 Training/Conferences/Seminars/TravelAttachment 1 2024 MEAL REIMBURSEMENT 

BREAKDOWN 

Per the U.S. General Services Administration , the table below lists  2024 reimbursement 
amounts for California (currently ranging from $ 64 to $79) .   In order to determine the correct 
meal reimbursement limits, first determine the location where you will be working while on 
official travel.  You can look up location-specific information at www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-
book/per-diem-rates. Find the daily 
total expense limit for your travel area and then refer to the table below for specific meal 
reimbursement 
limits.  

 
California Daily Total 

Minimum 
 

$64 

Maximum 
 

$79 

 Continental  Breakfast/Breakfast $14 $18 

 Lunch $16 $20 

 Dinner $29 $36 

 Incidentals $5 $5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2022-2255 Date Approved : May 19, 2022 
President of the Board Last Revised: May 19, 2022 

 

65



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Scans\09052024\5 Blue Point STRAW report 22-23 and donation request 24-25.docx Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 5, 2025 

Re: Report on Point Blue Conservation Science’s STRAW Program 2023-2024 and 
Requested Donation for 2024-2025. 

Item Type:   Consent   Action      X  Information     Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

1. Receive report from Laurette Rogers, Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed 
(STRAW) Founder and Ambassador, Point Blue Conservation Science on their program for 
the school year 2023-2024. 

2. Consider a request by Point Blue Conservation Science for a donation of up to $10,000 to 
educate students and perform habitat restoration to the Miller Creek watershed as part of 
their STRAW program in the school year 2024-2025. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Board of Directors occasionally considers making donations to educational or non-profit 
organizations that benefit the public by promoting environmental protection. Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District's Donation Policy F-140 outlines the formal procedures for determining eligibility, 
requesting and receiving contributions, and managing the donation program. 
 
On September 7, 2023, Point Blue Conservation Science submitted a request for continued 
support from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for the restoration of Miller Creek, which is 
the longest-running restoration project in the STRAW  program. Students have participated in the 
restoration of Miller Creek annually since 1999. 
 
In the previous year, a request for a $9,000 donation was made to educate students and restore 
degraded riparian habitats within the Miller Creek watershed during the 2022-2023 school year. 
The Board approved this donation on September 7, 2023. As per District policy, recipients of 
donations are required to submit a written report to the District within six months of the program’s 
end date. The program concluded at the end of the school year in June 2024. 
 
The written report for the 2022-2023 STRAW donation was received on August 13, 2024. This 
report accompanies their request for continued support for the STRAW program for the upcoming 
2024-2025 school year. 
 
 
 

Item Number________5______ 

GM Review   _______CP_______ 

66

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Scans\09052024\5 Blue Point STRAW report 22-23 and donation request 24-25.docx Page 2 of 2 

 
 
District staff reviewed the application and confirmed that it meets the eligibility criteria. The 
application packet includes the STRAW budget and preliminary unaudited financial statement for 
2024. Additionally, Point Blue Conservation Science’s most recent audited financial statements for 
the fiscal year from April 1, 2022, to March 31, 2023, are available for review at the District office. 
 
The Board is requested to review the donation request and determine whether the program offers 
benefits to the District and the community it serves. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On September 7, 2023, the Board approved a $9,000 donation to help fund the STRAW 
program in fiscal year 2023-2024.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal year 2024-2025 budget includes $10,000 that can be used towards non-profit 
donations. There is sufficient funding in the account to approve the requested donation. 
  

67



August 13, 2024

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board
Smith Ranch Road
San Rafael, CA 94903

Dear Board Members,

On behalf of Point Blue Conservation Science, we are deeply grateful for your commitment and

support in implementing our Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) program at

Miller Creek, a site we have been fortunate to return to every year since 1999. We request and

receive funding from multiple sources to support this work, and our total budget for the Miller

Creek restoration this year is $36,645.

Enclosed are our application materials for our new request of $10,000 to support our

restoration and education work with middle school students from Miller Creek Middle School

(MCMS) on Miller Creek. We have included the following documentation with this request:

● Report from the 2023-2024 school year for Miller Creek, showing the broader project

budget and additional funding sources.

● LGVSD donation request application form

● Proposed project narrative (written request)

● Detailed project budget for 2024-2025 school year

● Current fiscal year organizational budget for Point Blue (April 1, 2024 - March 31, 2025)

● Preliminary unaudited financial statement for fiscal year 2024 (please note our final

independent audit of Point Blue Conservation Science for fiscal year 2024 will be

completed later this year. We will be glad to share the audit for your review when

complete.)

● Audited financials for fiscal year 2023

We appreciate your partnership and consideration of our request for renewed support. Please

be sure to reach out if you need any additional materials or have any questions.

Sincerely,

Laurette Rogers, STRAW Founder and Ambassador

68



Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) at Miller Creek 2023-24

Point Blue Conservation Science’s Donation Report to the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

August 13, 2024

Introduction

Point Blue is grateful to the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for your longtime support of our

STRAW (Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed) program at Miller Creek. Your support

provides Miller Creek Middle School students with both classroom science education and

hands-on restoration planting and maintenance experience, all while enhancing and

maintaining a critical riparian restoration site along Miller Creek where we have been working

for over 24 years. Below we describe specific accomplishments at the restoration site from the

2023-24 school year.

Accomplishments in the 2023-24 programmatic year

Habitat restoration with students: Thanks to your ongoing support, we were again able to

engage Miller Creek Middle School (MCMS) students and teachers in three days of habitat

restoration on Miller Creek. It is the only restoration site where the STRAW team has been able

to return every year since 1999.

The restoration site is located on a reach of Miller Creek dominated by healthy heritage

overstory vegetation and a low-functioning understory, consisting of dense populations of

non-native plants such as Himalayan Blackberry (Rubus armeniacus), English Ivy (Hedera helix)

and Periwinkle (Vinca major), which is typical of most Bay Area riparian systems as they pass

through suburban/urban communities. Miller Creek has a viable Steelhead Trout (Oncorhynchus

mykiss) population, so restoration of high-functioning understory is critical to enhancing

invertebrate availability, a primary food source for anadromous fish. In addition, successful

recruitment and establishment of native riparian vegetation enhances channel stability, reduces

excess sediment inputs into the system, and greatly boosts the habitat’s value for a broader

range of native fauna while increasing resiliency in the face of a changing climate. This past year,

we focused work in an area that was chosen due to its proximity to previously restored sections

to enhance habitat connectivity. The site is a self-contained floodplain on the left bank of Miller

Creek in San Rafael.

69



For this project, the primary goal was to remove and manage the invasive species cover to

below 10%, as there is a substantial seed bank of native species including California bay laurel

(Umbellularia californica), California blackberry (Rubus ursinus), boxelder (Acer negundo) and

ash (Fraxinus latifolia) on site. Because this restoration work is implemented with Miller Creek

students and teachers, this project also includes the added benefit of educational opportunities

for local schools and community members.

The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s donation enabled us to work with all five science

teachers–Brandon DeMont, Josh Spair, Michael Small, Mike Schulist and Maya Cavelti—and 20

classes of 6th, 7th, and 8th grade students. As in past years, restoration activities included

non-native invasive plant removal as well as the planting of native plants and transplanting of

native sedge.

Student lessons: STRAW Education staff and apprentices facilitated pre-restoration lessons in

the classroom on “Designing a Riparian Area.” The students learned the story of STRAW and

how this year’s restoration days relate to our shared restoration work and vision at Miller Creek

through the decades. Next, students learned about the different features of watersheds and

had the opportunity to create watershed models with school yard materials (twigs, leaves,

rocks, etc.). Lastly, they were introduced to the specific invasive species they would be removing

as well as the native species they were going to be helping by completing the restoration

project. In 2023-2024, we taught a total of 20 MCMS classes.

Teacher Professional Development: MCMS science teachers have been invited to our 26th

Annual Watershed Week, where they will have opportunities to learn in-depth about an

important keystone species—beavers—and network with each other. Many teachers say they

look forward to Watershed Week as their favorite way to begin the school year!

STRAW Apprentices training: The young adults in STRAW’s early career program were trained as

part of the Miller Creek education and restoration, with classroom lessons providing an

opportunity for STRAW Apprentices to develop their in-class environmental educator skills.

Conclusion

Thank you again for your ongoing support of Point Blue’s important restoration and

environmental education work. Your partnership helps STRAW advance our shared goals of

establishing healthy ecosystems and training the next generation of environmental stewards.

Please reach out to STRAW Founder and Ambassador Laurette Rogers at lrogers@pointblue.org

or (415) 419-6420 or Director of Community Engagement Rose Snyder at

rsnyder@pointblue.org or (707) 834-1627 if you have any questions or comments.

70

mailto:lrogers@pointblue.org
mailto:rsnyder@pointblue.org


Expense
Las Gallinas 

Budget

Marin County DPW

Budget
Other Funders Total Budget

Las Gallinas  

Actual

Marin County DPW 

Actual
Other Funders Actual Total Actual

Salary 4,421.00$                       6,453.00$                   1,793.00$                   12,667.00$                 4,421.00$                   6,580.07$                      5,467.21$                      16,468.28$    

Benefits 2,246.00$                       3,277.00$                   911.00$                      6,434.00$                   2,246.00$                   3,342.67$                      2,777.15$                      8,365.82$      

Supplies -$                                500.00$                      500.00$                      131.12$                          20.00$                            151.12$         

Mileage -$                                1,200.00$                   1,200.00$                   316.51$                          190.65$                          507.16$         

Teacher Training -$                                -$                             1,000.00$                   1,000.00$                   -$                                -$                

Indirect 2,333.00$                       4,000.00$                   1,296.00$                   7,629.00$                   2,333.00$                   3,629.63$                      2,943.95$                      8,906.58$      

Total 9,000.00$                      15,430.00$                 5,000.00$                   29,430.00$                 9,000.00$                   14,000.00$                    11,398.96$                    34,398.96$    

Notes

* Budget represented reflects the period of 4/1/23- 3/31/24. Point Blue's fiscal year is April - March. 

* Marin County DPW overall contract for work at Miller Creek is $70,000 over 5 years. Point Blue has received $70,000 as of 3/31/24.

* Actuals shown for Las Gallinas were incurred between 10/1/23 - 3/31/24.

Las Gallinas Budget to Actual

4/1/23 - 3/31/24

Miller Creek Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) Project

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Budget Report 2023-24

71



72



73



Point Blue’s Donation Request Proposal Narrative
Prepared for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board

August 13, 2024

Summary
We are grateful for the generous support of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District which has
allowed us to continue our Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) program at
Miller Creek with the students of Miller Creek Middle School (MCMS). Thanks to supporters like
you, Point Blue’s STRAW program offers watershed science education and hands-on habitat
restoration to K-12 students in Marin County and beyond. Although our roots and main focus
are in the North Bay, our successful collaborations with partners, schools, and landowners have
enabled us to expand to 15 counties in California. Among the hundreds of sites we have
restored, Miller Creek stands out as the only one where we have sustained restoration efforts
for over 24 years. Your ongoing support is what makes this possible. We respectfully request a
new donation of $10,000 for the upcoming 2024-2025 restoration season and school year.

Project Activities
In the coming year, we will again partner with all five science teachers from Miller Creek Middle
School and their 20 classes of 6th, 7th, and 8th graders to learn about Miller Creek and participate
in restoration of riparian habitat.

As usual, the MCMS teachers will also be invited to our annual teacher training, Watershed
Week, which focuses on a particular ecological topic and provides support in creating watershed
education lessons. MCMS teacher Mike Schulist has been participating in Watershed Week for
decades now! Each year, Watershed Week creates a ripple effect—teachers share what they
learn with other teachers, inspire 4,000+ students to engage in science through new, outdoor
learning experiences, and connect with our partners, often resulting in new relationships and
opportunities for guest speakers and local experts to visit classrooms. This year, the theme of
“Beavers: Ecosystem Changemakers” will aim to shift participants’ mindsets about the
importance of keystone species and the way STRAW restorations include engineering and
construction. We have previously worked with students and teachers on projects building
Beaver Dam Analogues (BDAs) to rewater meadows and will again acknowledge the powerful
work of beavers and how our restoration work helps make our communities more resilient in
the face of climate change.

We propose to continue the restoration work at Miller Creek, removing invasive species such as
English ivy, cape ivy and non-native blackberry, while planting natives like snowberry, juncus,
and sticky monkey flower. There may also be an opportunity to continue to transplant the carex
(native sedge) that Native Americans use for basket making, which was found at the site but
needs more room.

74



We will continue to provide watershed science lessons in MCMS classrooms, at the teachers’
request. All of STRAW’s educational offerings are completely free of charge to the students,
teachers, and schools, and it is critical support like yours that allows us to provide this service. In
addition, Miller Creek restorations are learning opportunities for the young adults who are our
STRAW Apprentices to learn how to restore a riparian site with K-12 students. As in previous
years, if selected for renewed funding, we will acknowledge your generous support at each
opening circle for all of the MCMS classes so that the participants know and appreciate that
your donation made this restoration possible.

Conclusion
The STRAW program transforms Point Blue’s science into knowledge, skills, and actions that
foster stewardship of our planet. Your continued support helps provide hands-on learning and
exposure to science-in-action, as we inspire the next generation of environmental leaders.
Please reach out to STRAW Founder and Ambassador Laurette Rogers at lrogers@pointblue.org
or (415) 419-6420 or Director of Community Engagement Rose Snyder at
rsnyder@pointblue.org or (707) 834-1627 if you have questions or would like further
information about STRAW. Thank you for being our partner in this important work.

75

mailto:lrogers@pointblue.org
mailto:rsnyder@pointblue.org


Point Blue’s STRAW Miller Creek Restoration Budget (2024-25)

Prepared for Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Expenses
Personnel (Salaries, Benefits, and indirect expense1)
Education Labor2 $12,500
Restoration Team Labor $15,000
Restoration Maintenance Labor $5,500

Total Personnel $33,000

Other Direct Costs
Materials $500
Mileage $1,200
Teacher Training Costs $1,000

Total Other Direct Costs subtotal $2,700
Indirect only on "Other Direct Costs"1 $945

Total Expenses $36,645

Income
LGVSD (this request) - pending $10,000
California Wildlife Conservation Board $26,645
Total Income $36,645

1 Point Blue’s administrative overhead costs (indirect costs) as calculated per our Federally
Negotiated Indirect Agreement are 38.51%, but we charge a slightly reduced rate of 35%.
Indirect costs include the following: (1) salaries and benefits of administrative staff (CEO, CFO,
CSO, finance and accounting staff, office manager, and some portions of other senior
managers), (2) facilities and associated costs not related to direct program services such as the
offices of the administrative staff, (4) non-programmatic travel expenses for administrative staff,
(3) audit expenses, (4) interest expenses, (5) portions of other general expenses such as
insurance, office supplies, etc.

2 Beyond the Miller Creek site, our STRAW education program is funded more broadly by a
diverse portfolio of public and private funding, including contracts, individual donors, and family
foundations.

76



Point Blue Conservation Science Operating Budget
Fiscal Year April 1, 2024 -March 31, 2025

Revenue
Contract revenue $26,578,280
Grants and contributions $5,730,254
Interest income $200,000
Realized and unrealized gains, net -
Other income, net $375,000
Net assets released from restrictions -
Total Revenue $32,883,534

Functional Expenses
Personnel costs
Salaries $11,774,305
Benefits $5,431,200
Total Personnel Costs $17,205,505
Professional services $11,696,166
Travel/meetings/events $913,993
Computer hardware/software/internet $640,078
Project supplies and publications $413,260
General office $215,617
Equipment purchases $136,122
Facilities $144,809
Grants to others $775,000
Printing and reproduction $82,100
Advertising and promotion $19,900
Depreciation $300,000
Insurance $179,805
Other expenses $161,000
Total Functional Expenses $32,883,354

Change in Net Assets $180

77



Point Blue Conservation Science
Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2024

Unrestricted 
Funds

Temporarily 
Restricted Funds

Permanently 
Restricted Funds Total

Assets

   Cash (1,307,643) (4,100,333) (0) (5,407,976)

Cash on hand - Packard (0) (5) (0) (5)

Cash on hand - MCF (39,596) (2,440,628) (0) (2,480,224)

   Endowment (253,866) (21,367) (496,870) (772,103)

   Government grants & contracts receivable (4,429,120) (0) (0) (4,429,120)

   Contributions receivable (0) (1,055,895) (0) (1,055,895)

   Other receivables (29,817) (0) (0) (29,817)

   Prepaid and other current assets (201,455) (0) (0) (201,455)

   Property and equipment, net (5,843,941) (0) (0) (5,843,941)

      Total Assets (12,105,436) (7,618,228) (496,870) (20,220,535)

Liabilities

   Accounts payable (1,142,791) (0) (0) (1,142,791)

   Employer 401K contributions (506,600) (0) (0) (506,600)

   Accrued vacation (673,962) (0) (0) (673,962)

   Accrued payroll and benefits (302,845) (0) (0) (302,845)

   Deferred revenue (0) (208,056) (0) (208,056)

Loan payable - Packard (1M @ 2%) (13,333) (1,000,000) (0) (1,013,333)

Loan payable - MCF (3M @ 4%) (0) (3,000,000) (0) (3,000,000)

PPP loan payable (116,051) (0) (0) (116,051)

      Total Liabilities (2,755,582) (4,208,056) (0) (6,963,638)

Net Assets

Net assets, beginning of year (9,119,629) (5,037,493) (455,426) (14,612,548)

Change in net assets (230,226) (1,627,321) (41,444) (1,355,651)

      Total Net Assets (9,349,854) (3,410,172) (496,870) (13,256,897)

Total Liabilities & Net Assets (12,105,436) (7,618,228) (496,870) (20,220,535)

78



Point Blue Conservation Science
Statement of Activities

March 31, 2024

Unrestricted 
Funds

Temporarily 
Restricted Funds

Permanently 
Restricted Funds Total

Revenue
Contract revenue (14,585,592) (0) (0) (14,585,592)
Grants and contributions (1,482,486) (3,770,118) (0) (5,252,604)
Interest income (190,414) (12,211) (3,900) (206,524)
Realized and unrealized gains, net (20,304) (11,364) (37,544) (69,212)
Other income, net (828,504) (100) (0) (828,604)
Net assets released from restrictions (5,421,114) (5,421,114) (0) (0)
Total Revenue (22,528,414) (1,627,321) (41,444) (20,942,537)

    
Functional Expenses
Personnel costs (14,018,959) (0) (0) (14,018,959)
Professional services (5,298,993) (0) (0) (5,298,993)
Travel/meetings/events (682,276) (0) (0) (682,276)
Computer hardware/software/internet (571,753) (0) (0) (571,753)
Project supplies and publications (414,344) (0) (0) (414,344)
General office (178,984) (0) (0) (178,984)
Equipment purchases (122,984) (0) (0) (122,984)
Facilities (186,034) (0) (0) (186,034)
Grants to others (123,297) (0) (0) (123,297)
Printing and reproduction (53,218) (0) (0) (53,218)
Advertising and promotion (14,819) (0) (0) (14,819)
Depreciation (283,694) (0) (0) (283,694)
Insurance (176,754) (0) (0) (176,754)
Other expenses (172,081) (0) (0) (172,081)
Total Functional Expenses (22,298,188) (0) (0) (22,298,188)

    
Change in Net Assets (230,226) (1,627,321) (41,444) (1,355,651)

    
Beginning Net Assets

(9,119,629) (5,037,493) (455,426) (14,612,548)
    

Ending Net Assets (9,349,854) (3,410,172) (496,870) (13,256,897)

79



 

 
 

 

9/5/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Other Reports 
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  
 

NITZBERG 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet Management Ad Hoc 
Committee, SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA, 
Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Development Ad Hoc 
Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6 

80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



                                                                                  AGENDA ITEM 7A 
                                                                                 DATE: September 5, 2024             

REVISED 06012021 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER 

 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

                  YES     NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference:          

 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

104



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\09052024\Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

9/5/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 7B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142


	Agenda 09052024
	1 Public Comment
	2 Closed Session
	3A Minutes 08152024
	3B Check Warrant List 06302024 to 08132024
	3C Murray Webinar request Truck Regulation Implementation Group
	3D Award of Contract for Smith Ranch Pump Station Improvements
	3E Award of Contract for Pump Station Lighting Improvements
	3F Resolution 2024-2336 Confirming Sewer Service Charges
	3G Resolution 2024-2337 Board Policies F90 F100 O10 F100-80 and F150
	4.1 General Manager Report
	4.2 Engineering Department Report May Through August
	4.3 Operations Department  Report April Through June
	4.4 Board Policy Review B-50
	B-50 Training-Conferences-Seminars-Travel-Meals Sept 2024 DRAFT Policy.pdf
	B-50 Training/Conferences/Seminars/TravelAttachment 1 2024 MEAL REIMBURSEMENT BREAKDOWN


	5 Blue Point STRAW report 22-23 and donation request 24-25
	6 Board Member Reports
	6.2 Murray Other Reports
	7A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request
	7B Board Agenda Item Requests
	8 Various Industry Articles



